**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-10-4112

Appellate Case No. 2017-001216

Jane Doe, an adult woman over the age of 18,

Respondent,

v.

TCSC, LLC, d/b/a Hendrick Toyota of North Charleston,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

YOUNG CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
Edward D. Buckley, Jr. (SC Bar No. 994)
Nicholas J. Rivera (SC Bar No. 77186)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
Post Office Box 993
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 720-5488

Counsel for Appellant

RECEIVED

APR 25 2018

SC Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Hendrick¹ appeals the circuit court's denial of its motion to stay this lawsuit and compel Doe's² claims to arbitration. In essence, the lower court concluded that Doe's claims are outside the scope of the parties' Arbitration Agreement and thus not arbitrable. This is erroneous on two levels. First off, quite simply, the court should never have even ruled on arbitrability at all because the Arbitration Agreement clearly and unmistakably provides that it is governed by the FAA³ and that the threshold question of arbitrability is itself to be decided *in arbitration*, *not in court*. Secondly, even assuming, *arguendo*, that the arbitrability question was properly before the court for a decision on the merits, the court gave the wrong answer because it improperly applied an arbitration-specific principle of state law (South Carolina's "outrageous and unforeseen torts" exception to arbitration enforcement) which is preempted by the FAA, and it also misapplied certain general contract principles of state law. Respectfully, the circuit court should be reversed and this suit stayed in favor of arbitration.

¹ "Hendrick" is Defendant/Appellant TCSC, LLC, d/b/a Hendrick Toyota of North Charleston.

² "Doe" is Plaintiff/Respondent Jane Doe, an adult woman over the age of 18.

³ The "FAA" is the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16. It is undisputed that the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying Hendrick's motion to stay this lawsuit and compel Doe's claims to arbitration?
 - A. Does the Arbitration Agreement clearly and unmistakably provide that the threshold question of arbitrability is itself to be decided in arbitration, not in court, such that the court erred by even ruling on arbitrability at all?
 - B. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the arbitrability question was properly before the court for a decision on the merits, did the court give the wrong answer? In other words, is the court's decision on arbitrability erroneous on the merits?
 - (1) In concluding that Doe's claims are not arbitrable, did the court improperly apply an arbitration-specific principle of state law (South Carolina's "outrageous and unforeseen torts" exception to arbitration enforcement) which is preempted by the FAA?
 - (2) Did the court misapply general contract principles of state law?
 - (a) Did the court err in concluding that Doe's claims are not arbitrable on the basis of its finding that there was no "meeting of the minds"?
 - (b) Did the court err in concluding that Doe's claims are not arbitrable on the basis of its finding that the Arbitration Agreement is an unconscionable adhesion contract?
 - (c) Did the court err in concluding that Doe's claims are not arbitrable on the basis of its finding that the 2011 transaction and Doe's interaction with Smith in late 2015/early 2016 are wholly separate and distinct events, such that the Arbitration Agreement does not cover the alleged tortious acts underlying Doe's claims?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE⁴

Doe bought a new car from Hendrick in 2011, and she brought the car back in to the dealership for service from time to time thereafter, the last of those times on or about December 16, 2015. (*See generally* R. pp. 21-38, p. 56:15-19, pp. 72:20-74:4, pp. 109-114.)

In the weeks leading up to that final service visit, Doe had received mailings expressing Hendrick's interest in buying the car back from her and offering to appraise it for free. (R. p. 22 at ¶ 7.) As Doe herself had some interest in potentially buying a new car, and in assessing whether it made financial sense to do so, she was curious to know the car's trade-in value and how much credit she qualified for. (R. p. 23 at ¶¶ 9-11.) So, when Doe brought the car in for service on or about December 16, 2015, she agreed to have it appraised, and she also agreed to submit a credit application. (R. pp. 22-23 at ¶¶ 8-10.)

A Hendrick salesman named Richard Smith ("Smith") helped Doe with the appraisal and credit application, and as part of the credit application process, Doe

⁴ In order to provide "a concise history of the proceedings, insofar as necessary to an understanding of th[is] appeal," as directed by Rule 208(b)(1)(C), SCACR, some background facts are necessary. To avoid including "contested matters" in this statement of the case, as Rule 208(b)(1)(C) also requires, the factual summary it contains is intended to be consistent with the position reflected in Doe's complaint, as well as in her affidavit and in her counsel's appearances before the court. To be clear, however, this is done solely for the purpose of this appeal, and Hendrick reserves all rights to contest Doe's position outside the context of this appeal.

gave Smith certain personal information, including, her date of birth, telephone number, home address, and email address. (R. p. 23 at ¶¶ 9-12.)

With the car appraised and Doe's credit checked, Smith attempted to interest Doe in purchasing a new car, but after he had showed Doe two vehicles, both of which she felt were too expensive, Doe told Smith that she needed to leave to get to work and, in any event, that she would have to discuss any potential purchase with her husband. (R. pp. 23-24 at ¶¶ 13-15.) Though Smith urged Doe to go ahead (before leaving the dealership) and set a date to come back to with her husband, she declined, explaining that her family's schedule was too busy to make advance plans for a return visit and that she would have to call Smith back. (R. p. 24 at ¶¶ 16-18.)

Over the next eight or nine days, "Smith called [Doe] almost daily and, on some occasions, called twice in one day," leaving a number of voice messages. (R. pp. 24-25 at ¶¶ 19-20.) He continued to call into the New Year, though less frequently. (R. p. 25 at ¶ 21.)

Doe has specifically identified only one call from Smith that she actually answered,⁵ his last, which is when Doe told Smith that she had bought a new car

⁵ Otherwise on this subject Doe's complaint speaks in general terms. (See R. p. 25 at ¶ 21 ("The majority of the time [Doe] did not answer the calls."))

from another dealership. (R. p. 25 at ¶ 22.) That call took place on or about January 19, 2016, at about 10:00 in the morning. (R. p. 25 at ¶ 22.)

Some ten minutes after that call ended, as Doe would later come to learn, Smith went on an adult website posing as Doe (using her first name) and advertised that she wished to be contacted for sexual encounters, identifying her location as “Charleston, Mt. Pleasant” and giving out her telephone number. (R. pp. 25-26 at ¶¶ 23-24.) And soon thereafter Doe began receiving strange calls and text messages in response to “her ad” on the website. (R. pp. 26-27 at ¶¶ 25-31.) Alarmed, Doe and her husband wanted to know the reason for this sudden flurry of unwanted overtures, and ultimately, with the help of a private investigator and the police, they figured out what Smith had done. (R. pp. 27-29 at ¶¶ 32-46.)

Doe commenced this action on August 9, 2016. (*See generally* R. pp. 20-38.) Though she has not sued Smith himself, she claims that Hendrick is vicariously liable, under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, for outrage/intentional infliction of emotional distress, invasion of privacy, and defamation on account of Smith’s posting of the “ad” and also that Hendrick is directly liable for its negligent hiring, training, and/or supervision of Smith. (*See generally* R. pp. 21-38.)

After timely answering Doe's complaint,⁶ Hendrick promptly moved to stay the action and compel arbitration under the terms of an Arbitration Agreement that had been entered into when Doe bought the car from Hendrick in 2011. (R. pp. 79-80.) A one-page, standalone document, the Arbitration Agreement includes the following language:

Arbitration Agreement

.....

**PLEASE REVIEW – IMPORTANT – AFFECTS
YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS**

1. EITHER YOU OR WE MAY CHOOSE TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN US DECIDED BY ARBITRATION AND NOT IN COURT OR BY JURY TRIAL.

.....

Any claim or dispute, whether in contract, tort, statute, or otherwise (including the interpretation and scope of this Arbitration Agreement, and the arbitrability of the claim or dispute), between you and us or our employees, agents, successors or assigns, which arise out of or relates to your credit application, purchase, lease, or condition of this vehicle, your purchase, lease agreement, or financing contract or any resulting transaction or relationship (including any such relationship with third parties who do not sign your purchase, lease agreement, or financing contract) shall, at your or our election, be resolved by neutral, binding arbitration and not by a court action. If federal law provides that a claim or dispute is not subject

⁶ (R. pp. 39-51.)

to binding arbitration, this Arbitration Agreement shall not apply to such claim or dispute. Any claim or dispute is to be arbitrated by a single arbitrator on an individual basis Arbitration shall be conducted by the American Arbitration Association . . . (www.adr.org), or any other organization that you choose subject to our approval. You may get a copy of the rules of these organizations by contacting the arbitration organization or visiting its website.

Arbitrators shall be attorneys or retired judges and shall be selected pursuant to the applicable rules. The arbitrator shall apply governing substantive law in making an award. The arbitration hearing shall be conducted in the federal district in which you reside unless the seller of the vehicle is a party to the claim or dispute, in which case the hearing will be held in the federal district where this Arbitration Agreement was executed. We will advance your filing, administration, service or case management fee and your arbitrator or hearing fee all up to a maximum of \$2500, which may be reimbursed by decision of the arbitrator at the arbitrator's discretion. Each party shall be responsible for its own attorney, expert and other fees, unless awarded by the arbitrator under applicable law. . . . Any arbitration under this Arbitration Agreement shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §1 et. Seq.) and not by any state law concerning arbitration.

You and we retain any rights to self-help remedies, such as repossession. You and we retain the right to seek remedies in small claims court for disputes or claims within that court's jurisdiction, unless such action is transferred, removed or appealed to a different court. Neither you nor we waive the right to arbitrate by using self-help remedies or filing suit. Any court having jurisdiction may enter judgment on the arbitrator's award. . . .

(R. p. 81 (bold print and capitalization in original).)

The circuit court heard Hendrick’s motion twice, first on February 22, 2017, at which time the court expressed its intention to grant the motion. (*See generally* R. pp 52-69.) But the court then held a second hearing on April 4, 2017, and, at that time, announced it was denying the motion, its written orders to that effect (Form 4 first, then formal) filed April 5 and 27, 2017, respectively. (*See generally* R. pp. 1-19, pp. 70-78.) In concluding that Doe’s claims were not arbitrable, the court found that South Carolina’s “outrageous and unforeseen torts” exception to arbitration enforcement (the “Outrageous Torts Exception”) applied to preclude arbitration of the claims, as did certain general contract principles of state law. (*See generally* R. pp. 2-19.)

This appeal timely followed via notice served May 17, 2017.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The circuit court erred in denying Hendrick’s motion to stay this lawsuit and compel Doe’s claims to arbitration.**
 - A. **The Arbitration Agreement clearly and unmistakably provides that the threshold question of arbitrability is itself to be decided in arbitration, not in court, such that the court erred by even ruling on arbitrability at all.**

“[I]t is up to the [contracting] parties to determine whether a particular matter is primarily for arbitrators or for courts to decide.” *BG Group, PLC v. Republic of Argentina*, 134 S. Ct. 1198, 1206 (2014). “If the contract is silent on the matter of who primarily is to decide ‘threshold’ questions about arbitration . . .

courts presume that the parties intend courts, not arbitrators, to decide . . . disputes about ‘arbitrability.’” *Id.* “These include questions such as ‘whether the parties are bound by a given arbitration clause,’ or ‘whether an arbitration clause in a concededly binding contract applies to a particular type of controversy.’” *Id.* (quoting *Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.*, 537 U.S. 79, 84 (2002)). But this presumption does not hold where the parties have “clearly and unmistakably provide[d] otherwise” See *AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. Comm’ns Workers of Am.*, 475 U.S. 643, 649 (1986) (“*Unless the parties clearly and unmistakably provide otherwise*, the question of whether the parties agreed to arbitrate is to be decided by the court, not the arbitrator.”) (emphasis added); *One Belle Hall Property Owners Assoc., Inc. v. Trammell Crow Residential Co.*, 418 S.C. 51, 59, 791 S.E.2d 286, 291 (Ct. App. 2016) (“The question of the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination, *unless the parties provide otherwise.*”) (emphasis added). In other words, it is indeed the arbitrator, not the court, who is to decide the question of whether the parties agreed to arbitrate when the parties have clearly and unmistakably provided that the arbitrator is to do so.

Here, the parties clearly and unmistakably provided that “the interpretation and scope of th[e] Arbitration Agreement, and the arbitrability of the claim or dispute” at hand were to “be resolved by neutral, binding *arbitration* and *not by a court action.*” (R. p. 81 (emphasis added).) Respectfully, in the face of this clear

and unmistakable language, the circuit court erred by even ruling on the issue of arbitrability at all.

B. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the arbitrability question was properly before the court for a decision on the merits, the court gave the wrong answer. In other words, the court's decision on arbitrability is erroneous on the merits.

(1) In concluding that Doe's claims are not arbitrable, the court improperly applied an arbitration-specific principle of state law (the Outrageous Torts Exception) which is preempted by the FAA.⁷

South Carolina first specifically articulated the Outrageous Torts Exception in *Aiken v. World Finance Corporation of South Carolina*, 373 S.C. 144, 644 S.E.2d 705 (2007). According to the exception, outrageous torts, which are unforeseeable to the reasonable consumer and legally distinct from the contractual relationship between the parties, are not subject to arbitration. *Id.* at 151-52, 644 S.E.2d at 709.

In this case, the circuit court applied the Outrageous Torts Exception in concluding that Doe's claims are not arbitrable,⁸ and the issue Hendrick now presents to this Court boils down to whether the exception violates the FAA's mandate that courts must place arbitration agreements on equal footing with all

⁷ Again, to be clear, there is *no* question in this case about whether the FAA governs the Arbitration Agreement: the parties agree it does, as the circuit court noted in reaching the same conclusion itself. (R. p. 5 at n. 1, pp. 93-94, pp. 101-102.)

⁸ (*See* R. pp. 7-13.)

other contracts. *E.g. Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996) (“[With the FAA,] Congress precluded States from singling out arbitration provisions for suspect status, *requiring instead that such provisions be placed upon the same footing as other contracts.*”) (emphasis added) (internal quotations and citation omitted); *see also AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011) (instructing that Section 2 of the FAA is the “primary substantive provision of the Act.”) (quoting *Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Construction Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)); 9 U.S.C. § 2 (providing that a written arbitration agreement “shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, *save upon such grounds as exists at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.*”) (emphasis added); *Moses H. Cone*, 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (instructing that Section 2 of the FAA provides that a written arbitration agreement “shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exists at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract” and that it “create[s] a body of federal substantive law of arbitrability, applicable to any arbitration agreement within the coverage of the Act,” which requires that “questions of arbitrability . . . be addressed with a healthy regard for the federal policy favoring arbitration,” and that “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues . . . be resolved in favor of arbitration.”); *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339 (instructing that, while a court may set aside arbitration agreements by state-law defenses that govern the validity, revocability, and

enforceability of contracts generally, it may not do so “by defenses that apply only to arbitration or derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue”).

The question of whether the Outrageous Tort Exception violates, and is thus preempted by, the FAA (the “Preemption Question”), has already been the subject of debate in our state’s Supreme Court. The case of *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 791 S.E.2d 128 (2016), resulted in three separate opinions on the subject: one by Chief Justice Pleicones (joined by Justice Kittredge), endorsing the view that the exception is preempted by the FAA, and one by each of Justice Hearn (joined by Justice Beatty) and Acting Justice Toal, endorsing the view that it is not. Of course, counting the respective subscribers to these opinions reveals that only two members of the Court (Pleicones and Kittredge) voted “yes” on the Preemption Question while a three-judge majority (Hearn, Beatty, and Toal) voted “no.” But that majority view is not controlling precedent because, at least to Hendrick’s reading of the various *Parsons* opinions, an answer to the Preemption Question was not, in fact, necessary to the Court’s decision of the appeal, with Justices Hearn and Beatty concurring in the result of Chief Justice Pleicones’ lead opinion even though they disagreed with his (and Justice Kittredge’s) view on the Preemption Question—and in any event, the answer to the Preemption Question is controlled by *federal*,

not South Carolina, law. Still, although none of them rise to the level of controlling precedent, the *Parsons* opinions do, however, nicely frame both sides of the debate over the Preemption Question, with those voting “yes” viewing the Outrageous Torts Exception as violating the FAA’s commandment that arbitration agreements be placed on equal footing with all other contracts, while the “no” votes view the exception, notwithstanding its name, as merely the embodiment of a generally applicable contract principle: effectuating the intent of the parties—the latter view being shared by the circuit court in the instant case. (R. pp. 11-13.)

Besides commending Justice Pleicones’ analysis to this Court, which Hendrick hereby does in support of its appellate challenge to the circuit court’s reliance on the Outrageous Torts Exception, Hendrick would underscore some seemingly plain flaws in contrary view (i.e., the one endorsed by the other judges finding against preemption).

Those who would find the Outrageous Torts Exception not to be a “defense[] that appl[ies] only to arbitration or derive[s] [its] meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue”⁹ give unduly short shrift to the fact that the only “rule” to which this specific “exception” applies is *arbitration* enforcement. Were it to be merely the embodiment of the general principle of contract law about effectuating the intent of the parties, there would never have

⁹ *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339.

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