**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

APR 20 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-10-4112

Appellate Case No. 2017-001216

Jane Doe, an adult woman over the age of 18,

Respondent,

v.

TCSC, LLC, d/b/a Hendrick Toyota of North Charleston,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

THE MASON LAW FIRM, P.A.
Anthony E. Forsberg (SC Bar No. 12414)
Mark A. Mason (SC Bar No. 3676)
Tidewatch Centre on Shem Creek
465 West Coleman Boulevard, Suite 302
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Post Office Box 1271 (29465)
Telephone: (843) 884-1444

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

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

I. The Circuit Court did not err in denying Hendrick’s Motion to Stay this lawsuit and compel Doe’s claims to arbitration.

The determination whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed *de novo*. *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 130 (2016) (citing, *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009)). Nevertheless, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings. *Id.* (citing, *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007); *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., L.L.C.*, 357 S.C. 91, 94, 592 S.E.2d 50, 51 (Ct. App. 2003)).

A. The Arbitration Agreement was properly found to be void *ab initio* and no contract to arbitrate existed.

“The policy of the United States and of South Carolina is to favor arbitration of disputes.” *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2016). “Arbitration is a matter of contract law and general contract principles of state law apply to a court’s evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration clause.” *Id.* “Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” *Zabinski v. Bright*

Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001).

Initially, Hendrick argues that the Arbitration Agreement itself requires that questions of arbitrability be resolved by an arbitrator and not the courts and therefore the lower court should have ordered the question of arbitrability be decided by an arbitrator. The inherent flaw with this argument is that if there is no contract between the parties under general principles governing the formation of contracts, then the Arbitration Agreement cannot control the parties. Doe argued in her Supplemental Memo in Opposition that the 2011 Arbitration Agreement itself should be voided, and therefore deemed unenforceable, pursuant to the Savings Clause of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C.A. §2 (West) which specifically states:

A written provision in any...contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction, or the refusal to perform the whole or any part thereof, or an agreement in writing to submit to arbitration an existing controversy arising out of such a contract, transaction, or refusal, shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, **save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.** (emphasis added).

Doe's successful argument before the Circuit Court was premised upon the fact that arbitration is a matter of contract law and, as such, arbitration is available only when the parties involved contractually agreed to arbitrate. *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C.29, 524 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1999); *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663 (2007). Arbitration will be denied if a court determines no agreement to arbitrate existed. *Lucey v. Meyer*, 401 S.C. 122, 139, 736 S.E.2d 274, 283 (Ct. App. 2012).

In determining whether an agreement to arbitrate exists, “the court should apply ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts.” *Johnson v. Circuit City Stores*, 148 F.3d 373, 377 (4th Cir.1998) (quoting *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S.Ct. 1920, 131 L.Ed.2d 985 (1995)); see also *Arrants v. Buck*, 130 F.3d 636, 640 (4th Cir.1997) (“Courts decide whether there is an agreement to arbitrate according to common law principles of contract law.”)

Hendrick posits that the fact the Arbitration Agreement was signed constitutes “clear and unmistakable” evidence that the parties agreed to submit the threshold question of arbitrability to an arbitrator. But the Circuit Court was asked by Doe to determine if the Arbitration Agreement was an enforceable contract between the parties. State and Federal law recognizes that “[i]n certain limited circumstances, courts assume that the parties intended courts, not arbitrators, to decide a particular arbitration-related matter (in the absence of “clea[r] and unmistakabl[e]” evidence to the contrary)”. *Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Bazzle*, 539 U.S. 444, 452, 123 S. Ct. 2402, 2407, 156 L. Ed. 2d 414 (2003). “[This includes] certain gateway matters, such as whether the parties have a valid arbitration agreement at all...” *Id.* Therefore, “[t]he initial inquiry to be made by the trial court is whether an arbitration agreement exists between the parties.” *The Hous. Auth. of City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Hous., LLC*, 356 S.C. 328, 334–35, 588 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2003). See also, *Hooters of America v. Phillips*, 39 F.Supp.2d 582, 609 (D.S.C.1998) (holding that issues of “substantive arbitrability” are properly before the trial court and these

issues include whether “a valid arbitration agreement exists between the parties...”. (quoting *Glass v. Kidder Peabody & Co.*, 114 F.3d 446, 453 (4th Cir.1997))).

Hendrick argues that the Arbitration Agreement itself provides clear and unmistakable evidence that the parties agreed that the “interpretation and scope of the Arbitration Agreement and the arbitrability of the claim or dispute” between them were to “be resolved by neutral, binding arbitration and not by a court action”. (App Final. Brf., p. 10). Although the Arbitration Agreement does state that it applies to “the interpretation and scope” of itself, it does not follow from that phrase that it also applies to the more basic question of whether an enforceable contract even existed. At the trial court, Doe challenged the validity of the entire Arbitration Agreement and pursuant to the Savings Clause of the FAA, 9 U.S.C.A. §2, sought revocation of the contract on the state law grounds that there was no meeting of the minds, on grounds that it constituted an unconscionable adhesion contract, and on the grounds that the 2011 Arbitration Agreement did not reflect the expectations of the parties in light of its inapplicability to the 2016 outrageous and unforeseeable tortious actions alleged to have been committed by Hendrick’s employee, all general principles of contract law equally applicable to any contract. Because Doe challenged the very existence of the contract, thereby bringing into question whether an arbitration agreement even existed in the first place, there can be no “clear and unmistakable” evidence that the parties agreed to arbitrate the gateway matter of the agreement’s *validity*. The question before the trial court was not “interpretation and scope” of a contract. It was a question of formation and

existence of a contract. In this instance, as properly found by the trial court applying general principles of contract law, there existed “grounds at law or in equity” - as contemplated by the FAA - for the revocation of the 2011 contract. As such, there was no error and the trial court properly ruled upon the issue of validity of the Arbitration Agreement rather than submitting that existential issue to arbitration. (*Cf., Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 23, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007))⁴.

B. The circuit court’s decision on the arbitrability of the Plaintiff/Doe’s claims was not erroneous on the merits.

- (1) In concluding that Doe’s claims are not subject to the Arbitration Agreement, the Circuit Court properly applied South Carolina contract caselaw which is not arbitration-specific and which constitutes a ground which exists at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract as contemplated by the Savings Clause of the FAA, 9 U.S.C.A. §2 (West).**

⁴ In reviewing a similar question in the matter of *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, the SC Supreme Court held:

Although the clause specifically stated that arbitration applied to issues involving “the validity and scope of this contract,” Simpson challenged the validity of the arbitration provision on grounds of unconscionability, bringing into question whether an arbitration agreement even existed in the first place.

Furthermore, because Simpson has challenged the validity of the entire arbitration clause on grounds of unconscionability, there can be no “clear and unmistakable” evidence that the parties actually agreed to arbitrate the gateway matter of the arbitration clause’s validity. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in ruling on the issue of validity instead of submitting the issue itself to arbitration. (emphasis added).

Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 23, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007)

Hendrick additionally argues that by way of the Supremacy Clause, the *Concepcion*⁵ line of US Supreme Court cases trump South Carolina law on the issue of whether the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1, *et seq.*, displaces state laws prohibiting outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim. While it may be true that the FAA does have this effect on state laws directly addressing *only* arbitration agreements, in reaching its decision, the trial court did not rely upon any State statute, rule or caselaw that “outright prohibits” arbitration. Rather, in keeping with the Savings Clause embodied in the FAA⁶, since the 2011 Arbitration Agreement at issue in this matter is a contract, and since both South Carolina and US Supreme Court case law requires courts to honor the expectations of the parties⁷ embodied in their contracts, the Circuit Court relied in part upon the applicability of what has been termed the “outrageous and unforeseeable tort exception” - a concept which the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained is firmly grounded in the longstanding

⁵ The phrase “*Concepcion* line of cases” refers to the U.S. Supreme Court cases of *Doctor’s Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 116 S.Ct. 1652, 134 L.Ed. 2d 902 (1996), *AT&T Mobility, LLC v. Concepcion*, 131 S.Ct. 1740, 179 L.Ed. 2d 742, 563 U.S. 333 (2011) and *DIRECTV, Inc. v. Imburgia*, 136 S.Ct 463, 193 L.Ed.2d 365 (2015).

⁶ A written provision in any...contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction, or the refusal to perform the whole or any part thereof, or an agreement in writing to submit to arbitration an existing controversy arising out of such a contract, transaction, or refusal, shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, **save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.** 9 U.S.C.A. § 2 (West)

⁷ “Arbitration is a matter of contract, and the FAA requires courts to honor parties’ expectations.” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 351, 131 S. Ct. 1740, 1752, 179 L. Ed. 2d 742 (2011)

general contract principle of effectuating the parties' contractual expectations.⁸ This principle, while applicable in this *particular* instance to a contract to arbitrate, can apply equally to any contract. As such, the exception is another "ground that exists in law or at equity for the revocation of any contract" as contemplated by the FAA's Savings Clause, 9 U.S.C.A. § 2 (West) and its application to this arbitration contract does not conflict with Federal substantive law of arbitrability.

Hendrick takes issue with the trial court's application of the outrageous torts exception and argues that it should be preempted by *Concepcion*⁹ and the FAA. In the matter of *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 791 S.E.2d 128, (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court directly addressed the Supremacy Clause/Preemption argument now championed by Hendrick and through a series of opinions, the high court reaffirmed the continued viability of the "outrageous and unforeseeable torts exception" to the policy of the United States and South Carolina courts favoring arbitration of disputes. In *Parsons*, three of the five Supreme Court justices agreed that the "outrageous and unforeseeable torts exception" remains a viable principle of law in South Carolina even

⁸ In the matter of *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007) the Supreme Court stated:

This Court merely seeks, as a matter of public policy, to promote the procurement of arbitration in a commercially reasonable manner. **To interpret an arbitration agreement to apply to actions completely outside the expectations of the parties would be inconsistent with this goal.** (emphasis supplied).

⁹ *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 131 S. Ct. 1740, 179 L. Ed. 2d 742 (2011)

in light of *Concepcion*, because it embodies a generally applicable principle of contract law, that being effectuating the intent of the parties, a bedrock principle of contract law that is not applicable *only* to arbitration contracts. Moreover, the *Concepcion* Court agrees that “[a]rbitration is a matter of contract, and the FAA requires courts to honor parties’ expectations.” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 351, 131 S. Ct. 1740, 1752, 179 L. Ed. 2d 742 (2011).

In the concurring and dissenting opinion of Justice Hearn in *Parsons*, it was stated that abolishing the exception (as urged by Justices Pleicones and Kittredge) could lead to absurd results, such as forcing parties to arbitrate behavior that they clearly did not contemplate upon entering the contract or arbitration agreement. *See, Parsons* at 791 S.E. 2d 128, 134-135. *See also, Doe v. Princess Cruise Lines, Ltd.*, 657 F.3d 1204, 1214 (11th Cir. 2011) (“Even though there is [a] presumption in favor of arbitration, the courts are not to twist the language of the contract to achieve a result which is favored by federal policy but contrary to the intent of the parties.”); *See also, e.g., Koon v. Fares*, 379 S.C. 150, 155, 666 S.E.2d 230, 233 (2008) (explaining a contract “interpretation which establishes the more reasonable and probable agreement of the parties should be adopted while an interpretation leading to an absurd result should be avoided”). It is this absurd result Hendrick wants this Court to adopt. While the outrageous torts exception has been most often applied in the context of arbitration contracts, the concept of giving effect to contracting parties’ intentions is nothing new, nor is it only applicable to arbitration contracts. The issue Hendrick has with the exception, it

would appear, is the fact that the Supreme Court gave a name to its application of this longstanding contract principle when applied in the context of an arbitration contract.

In her dissent in *Parsons*, Acting Justice Jean Toal proclaimed, “[a]s I read our precedents, the so-called “outrageous and unforeseeable tort exception to arbitration” is merely a label for this Court’s application of a longstanding contract principle - effectuating the parties’ contractual expectations.” *Parsons*, at 791 S.E. 2d 128, 137. She characterized the label attached to the exception as “...a misnomer. The analysis underlying the exception - defining the scope of the agreement by effectuating the parties’ contractual expectations - is equally applicable to contracts and arbitration agreements.” *Id.* at 137. (emphasis added).

Again, the first time our Supreme Court applied this well founded concept to the context of analyzing an arbitration contract it clearly stated:

This Court merely seeks, as a matter of public policy, to promote the procurement of arbitration in a commercially reasonable manner. To interpret an arbitration agreement to apply to actions completely outside the expectations of the parties would be inconsistent with this goal.

Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007).

Giving effect to the parties’ contractual expectations places arbitration contracts on equal footing with all other contracts as required by the *Concepcion* line of cases and as contemplated by the Savings Clause of the FAA. Hendrick argues that this “exception” is disproportionately applied to arbitration agreements, but for courts to ignore a glaring disconnect between the parties’ expectations simply because the contract addressed the potential for arbitration of disputes between the parties would lead to an absurd result if the

parties' contractual *expectations* were not met by doing so. Explaining this, Acting Justice

Toal provided the following rationale in her *Parsons* dissent:

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